IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD BRADLEY,

Appellant,

v. Case No. 93,373

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

NADA M. CAREY ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0648825 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilt Phase

The dispatcher received a 911 call from Linda Jones at 8:30 p.m. on November 7, 1995, reporting her husband, Jack Jones, had been beaten and was bleeding to death. Linda said three men came in, beat her husband, and robbed them. The men had clubs or a bat and also took her husband's gun. They were dressed in black and

wore ski masks. She said she had been taped and could not get the tape off and had blood all over her. XI 1061-1076.

When Officer Yeager arrived eight minutes later, Linda Jones met him on the front porch. He saw no blood on her nor tape on her hands. She was barefoot. Inside the foyer, the walls and floor were splattered with blood. Jack Jones' body was on the floor in the den. He was on his back with his hands duct-taped above his head and his feet taped. There was blood on and around the body. XII 1288-1295.

Thomas Waugh, the lead detective, arrived around 9:00 p.m. He found no signs of forced entry. There was evidence of a struggle in the foyer area. There was duct tape on the floor in the first bedroom down the hallway and rolled-up duct tape on the floor in the master bath. A purse and jewelry lay on the floor in the master walk-in closet along with the victim's wallet containing a \$100 bill. Phones in two bedrooms were still intact. A bloody washcloth was in the sink in one of the bathrooms. XII 1306-1335. In the garage, a piece of duct tape had been stuffed inside a cinder block that was part of the wall. XII 1333-1335.

The medical examiner testified that Jack Jones died from blunt trauma. He suffered five or six severe blows to the head and eight severe blows to his back, as well as some less severe arm and leg injuries. The trunk injuries were caused by a cylindrical instrument. The head injuries could have been caused by a gun or some other object. The arm, leg, and back injuries would not have

caused unconsciousness, but any of the blows to the back of the head very likely would have rendered him unconscious immediately, and he would have died fairly quickly thereafter. None of the blows was administered after he was dead. XII 1373-1379.

Brian McWhite testified that he was 21 at the time of the homicide and working for Bradley in Bradley's landscaping business. XI 1078-1079. The night of the homicide, Donald called Brian and asked if he and his brother, Patrick, wanted to make a \$100 each to help him beat up a guy. They agreed, and not long after, Donald came over in his maroon van. He told the McWhites he was doing a favor for a friend whose husband was cheating on her. She wanted her husband beat up so he would stop seeing the girl. Donald was going to pretend to be the girl's boyfriend and tell the husband to quit messing with her. XI 1084-1086.

As they left the house, they grabbed a stick of wood from the house and a pair of football gloves. The wood was about 2" in diameter on one end and 7-8" diameter on the other end. XI 1090. They stopped at WalMart, where Donald bought ski masks. Before getting to WalMart, Donald called Linda Jones on his cell phone to find out if Mr. Jones was home. Brian knew who Donald called because he heard Donald say Linda's name. Brian knew Linda did Donald's taxes but had never met her or been to her house. After the call, Donald told them Mr. Jones was not home yet. He told them Linda was going to leave the door unlocked and the front porch lights off. Patrick and Brian were to go in the front; Donald

would go in the side door because there would be gun on the kitchen counter in a bag. Mr. and Mrs. Jones would be in the living room watching TV. XI 1092-1096.

Donald called Linda two more times. Brian heard Donald say it was not like she said it was going to be because Mr. Jones was not home. Donald made the final call when they got to the house. Donald said something about tax papers, meaning Mr. Jones was home. XI 1097-1098.

Brian and Patrick went in the front door, and Donald went through the side door from the garage. Either Donald or Patrick had the stick. They also had duct tape from the van. They had on masks and gloves and were dressed in black clothing. Mr. Jones was in a chair, Mrs. Jones was on a couch. Mrs. Jones made eye contact but did not say anything. Mr. Jones looked back and saw them, asked Brian who he was, and then rushed at Brian swinging. Brian stepped back and heard Patrick say, "I got him." Then Donald hit Mr. Jones in the head with the stick. Mr. Jones lost his balance, and Donald hit him again. Mrs. Jones had walked up by then. Donald pulled the gun out and was talking to Mr. Jones. They taped Mrs. Jones but not tightly. Donald cocked the gun and pointed it at Mr. Jones' chest and head. He tried to shoot it but it would not fire. XI 1100-1105.

At one point, Brian felt like Mr. Jones had had enough. He asked Donald not to hit him anymore and asked him what he wanted. Patrick asked Donald to stop, said it was over, but Donald did not

stop. As far as he could remember, Mr. Jones got taped up after Donald stopped beating him. XI 1106. Donald told Brian to go to the room and take something. Brian took some money and jewelry from a back room. XI 1107. They had to tape Mrs. Jones' mouth twice because she took it off. At first, she asked who they were, but she seemed to be acting. When Mr. Jones was being beaten, she said "hey, stop, stop," then said nothing. She saw the whole thing and was right there beside them. XI 1108-1110. Donald was talking during the beating, at times to Mrs. Jones. Before they left, Donald cut the tape on Mrs. Jones' hands with a small knife. At Donald's instruction, Brian and Patrick tore the kitchen phone off the wall and threw it into the sink. XI 1112.

Donald drove off with the van lights off. Brian tossed the duct tape in some water on the way back to Donald's house. Donald told them if Mr. Jones died, they would be in big trouble and could not tell anyone. They drove to Donald's house and Donald cleaned the blood out of the van. Donald took their bloody clothes, put them in a garbage bag, and gave them some shorts and a T-shirt. Brian heard Donald's wife's voice but Donald told her to go back in the house. XI 1113-1116.

Donald took Brian and Patrick home. Their clothes, shoes, and the stick were burned in a burn barrel outside the McWhite house. Donald kept the gun and said he was going to stick it in some mud. XI 1129. Brian worked with Donald the next day and for another month after that. They agreed that if one of them got caught, he

would take the fall and not say anything. Donald said he would not talk because he wanted to get paid by Mrs. Jones, who was getting a lot of money from the insurance people. XI 1117-1122. Brian ultimately got caught because of a fingerprint he left after he took off his glove. XI 1122.

On cross-examination, Brian said he did not hear Donald call anyone to ask for directions. XI 1167. Donald used a flip phone not a bag phone. He did not remember Donald calling Michael Clark or telling him what Clark said. He did not remember Donald calling someone named "Sis" or calling Cindy Bradley. XI 1167-1168. He did not remember telling Detective Waugh he hit Jack Jones two or three times. He took off his glove because he got hit on the arm. He took the other glove off later because he wanted to get caught. He got scared because Donald "was hitting me and I got tripped out." XI 1167-1170. He thought Donald "was going to like start shooting everybody." He did not remember telling Detective Waugh that Valerie came into the garage and walked around while they cleaned up. He never told Waugh that Valerie washed the clothes that night. XI 1173.

Patrick McWhite testified that he was 17 at the time of the homicide and attending Orange Park High School. XII 1209-1210. When he got home on November 7, 1995, his brother asked if he wanted to make some money. Brian said they were going to "jump this guy" meaning beat him up. Donald came over, told them to grab some gloves and the stick by the back door, and they left. XII

1211-1213. They stopped at WalMart, where Donald went inside and bought ski masks. XII 1214. At one point, Donald called someone on his cell phone to get directions to the house. Patrick heard him say "Sis" a couple of times. Donald made several other calls. One call was about some tax papers, which was the code to go in the house. One was to Michael Clark to ask if he wanted to come with them. XII 1216-1220. Donald made the last call when he pulled into the driveway. XII 1221.

When they got to the house, Donald said the front door would be open and told Patrick and Brian where to go to avoid the floodlights. Donald was going through the garage to retrieve a pistol from the kitchen. XII 1220. When they got inside, they saw their reflection in a mirror. Mr. Jones did too and came towards them. He and Brian started throwing punches. Patrick stood frozen with the stick in his hands. Then Donald came in and hit Jones in the back of the head with the butt of the gun. Jones fell down, and Patrick and Donald dragged him into the other room. More blows were exchanged between Jones and Donald. Donald then started hitting Jones with the gun and kicking him. Donald took the stick from Patrick and told Patrick to find something to take. XII 1222-1224.

Patrick and Brian went down the hallway. Then Patrick went back to the front room. The lady was standing on the stair not saying anything. She was not taped at that point. Donald was hitting Mr. Jones. Donald told Patrick again to go find something,

and Patrick went back down the hallway. He went through some drawers and purses but did not find anything, then returned to the The lady was still standing on the step. He heard her say "stop" once. Donald was still beating the guy, who was in a ball. Donald told Patrick to shut the lady up, so he went over to her. When he touched her, she flopped to the floor. Donald threw Patrick the tape, and he taped her mouth. Patrick went back to the master bedroom where he found \$13 and some jewelry. When he returned to the living room, the lady was crawling, trying to see into the room where Donald and Jones were, her feet and hands still Donald told Patrick to tape the man's hands, which he did. Donald continued to hit him. Patrick went back down the hallway. When he came back, Donald was still hitting the man. clicked the gun to the man's head but it did not go off. XII 1235. At one point, Brian taped the lady. Before they left, Donald cut the lady's tape. XII 1244. The man was still in a ball when they left. XII 1237. After they left, Donald said, "I think I killed him." XII 1243-1244. On the way back to Donald's house, Brian threw the duct tape in some water. XII 1229. They parked in Donald's garage and cleaned up. Valerie Bradley brought a bucket of cold water to the door. Donald and Brian changed clothes and burned the clothes they had been wearing. They cleaned the stick and took it back to the McWhite house. Patrick had not seen it since. XII 1241-1243.

On cross-examination, Patrick said Donald offered him \$250. Patrick was 6'2" and weighed 250 pounds. He grabbed some old football gloves before they left so he would not hurt his hands. He told Donald they did not need the stick but took it anyway. They wore ski masks so the man would not recognize them. The plan was to beat him up, not kill him. XII 1262-1270. Donald used a flip phone not a bag phone. XII 1270-1272. Patrick may have hit the man once. XII 1273. Valerie did not come in the garage but to the door. Patrick thought she saw them. XII 1276.

Mark Cornett, an Orange Park police officer, was a family friend of the McWhites. He grew up with the boys' father, Eddy, and had a special relationship with Patrick, taking him fishing, hunting, and to football games. Cornett's department was not involved in the Jones murder and Cornett did not know anything about it except what he had read in the newspaper. XII 1196-1199. On September 14, 1996, the sheriff asked him to help with Brian's arrest. Cornett knew where Brian lived, and they arrested Brian around 5 a.m. Cornett stayed at the station until 8 a.m., then went home to bed. No one told him anything about the case. Shortly afterwards, Detective Waugh called and asked Cornett to bring Eddy McWhite to Green Cove Springs, which Cornett did. Cornett then took Eddy home. A few minutes after he dropped Eddie off, Eddie called and said Patrick had something to tell him. Eddie brought Patrick to Cornett's house, and Cornett drove Patrick to Green Cove Springs. Patrick started talking, so Cornett read

him his rights. Cornett turned Patrick over to Waugh and told them what he had said. XII 1198-1204.

Michael Clark testified that he was working for Donald in November of 1995. He got the job from Donald's sister, Cindy Bradley, who lived across the street from Clark's parents. XII 1383-1384. On November 7, 1995, which was Clark's birthday, his parents had a birthday party for him. Around 7:30 or 8:00 p.m., while he was at the party, Brian McWhite and Donald Bradley called on a cell phone. They wished him a happy birthday and asked if he wanted to come hang out with them. Donald mentioned that he was going to Lake Asbury. XII 1391-1394.

Jill Jones, the daughter of Linda and Jack Jones, testified that her father carried a gun. When he got home, he would put the gun down on an island in the kitchen. XII 1283.

Janice Cole testified she had known Linda Jones since second grade and Jack Jones since junior high. She was the maid of honor at their wedding, and the families did things together. On either November 6 or 7, 1995, Linda called Janice. She told Janice she was not getting a divorce. She already had told Janice about Jack's affair. When she called November 6 or 7, she was upset about money problems. Jack had been buying things for Carrie, including a diamond ring. Linda said Jack would be home that evening or the next to talk about the bills and finances. Linda was very upset about all she had been through. She said she could take a gun and kill Jack and get away with it because of everything

that had happened. Janice told Linda she was crazy, there was life after divorce. When she told Linda she knew a good man, Lacey Mayhan, a lawyer, Linda responded, "Oh, I thought you meant something else." Linda said she would lose \$500,000 in life insurance if she got a divorce and she "wasn't going to fat and forty alone." XII 1431-1436.

Jack Jones had a life insurance policy worth \$125,000 which had been established in 1992. XII 1444. He also had a company policy at Key Buick, where he was the service manager, which was worth \$175,000 and had a double indemnity clause. Linda Jones was the beneficiary of both policies. XII 1449.

Ernie Zweifel testified that he lived two houses down and across the street from the Jones. Zweifel said he saw a maroon 1994 or 1995 Nissan van go by his driveway at a high rate of speed with the lights off around 8:30 p.m. the night Jack Jones was murdered. Zweifel recognized the year and model because he had been shopping for a van. The van appeared to be coming from two houses down. The windows were tinted, so he could not see inside. About twenty minutes later, the police appeared. Around 9:30 p.m. that night, Zweifel gave the police a statement about what he had seen. XIII 1453-1477.

Over defense objection, four witnesses testified about an incident that took place on October 31, 1995, one week before Jack Jones was murdered.

Brian McWhite said he, Donald Bradley, Michael Clark, and Patrick McWhite went to an apartment in Mandarin in Donald's van. They went to the door and no one answered. Then they broke some windows. Donald made some calls that night but Brian did not remember who he called. XI 1132.

Patrick McWhite said they went to Mandarin to talk to a girl. They were going to knock on the door and then go in and take whatever they wanted. Donald was going to talk to the girl. After they arrived, Donald learned from a phone call that he made outside the apartment that someone else was there. Eventually, Jack Jones left the apartment. The knocked on the door but no one answered. Donald told them to break some windows of a car that was on bricks, which they did. XII 1246-1250.

Michael Clark said they went to the apartment to steal jewelry. Donald knew jewelry was there. No one was supposed to be home. When they got there, a man and woman were there. They sat in Donald's van for forty-five minutes, and Donald made several phone calls. Michael called his mother, whose birthday it was, to say he would be late for her birthday party. After the man left, they knocked on the door but no one came. They got back in the van, and Donald placed a call. Then Brian and Patrick got out and broke some windows of the girl's car. Donald dropped them off at Brian's house. XIII 1385-1390.

Carrie Davis, 21, said she began working for Linda Jones in October 1994. She moved in with Linda and her husband in February

1995 because of difficulty at home. She had not met Jack Jones before that. She moved out in July 1995, a week after she and Jack got involved. Linda found out about the affair the day Carrie moved out and was very angry. Carrie and Jack planned to marry. They leased an apartment in both their names. Jack usually came over in the mornings around 5:30 a.m., they would have lunch together, then he would come over after work and stay until 6:30 or 7:00. He bought her a wedding set on October 13, 1995. On October 31, 1995, Jack left her apartment around 8:30 p.m. She received harassing phone calls from Linda Jones before and after he left. After he left, some adults knocked on the door. She called 911. The next day her car windows were busted and the brake lines were cut. XIII 1418-1425.

Detective Waugh testified that he and Lieutenant Redmond went to Donald Bradley's home at 8:30 a.m. on January 22, 1996, with a warrant to seize Bradley's van. Donald lived in the Loch Rane, a gated community. XIII 1481-1482. Waugh he did not call Donald before he showed up and had never talked to Donald before. XIII 1520. The family was having breakfast when they arrived. Waugh and Redmond waited while they finished eating, then spoke with Donald. Donald's wife, Valerie, was present during some of the conversation. Donald taped the conversation. 3 XIII 1488. Waugh

³ During his testimony, Waugh referred to a transcript of the tape recording Bradley had made of the interview. XIII 1490.

told Donald he had no problem with Donald taping the conversation. XIII 1521. Waugh began by asking routine questions, such as date of birth, phone numbers, employment history. Donald said he had two cell phones, one with the number 707-6889, used by his foremen Michael Clark and Brian McWhite, the other a flip phone with the number 858-0347, which Donald used. XIII 1486-1487. Donald told Waugh he knew Linda Jones well. She had been doing his taxes for several years. He last talked to her three weeks earlier. XIII 1522.

When asked where he was on November 7, 1995, Bradley could not recall but offered to pull out records to see what his work schedule was and "go from there." XIII 1489. Waugh then told Bradley three phone calls had been made from his cell phone, number 858-0347, to Linda Jones' home the night of the murder, at 7:35, 8:06 and 8:17 p.m. Donald got up and got his calendar. There was no entry for November 7. The entry for November 6 was "Camelot Sevilla, Party by the Sea." XIII 1499.

Regarding the phone calls, Donald said he was supposed to pick up some tax papers from underneath the doormat at Linda's office that night. He did not get the papers or Linda messed up, so he called her about the papers, then came home and ran some errands. She said she forgot the papers and offered to leave them again. The 7:30 call may have been the first time he called when he realized the papers were not there. He called her again after doing errands, then came home. The only thing Linda talked about

when he called was the tax papers. XIII 1491-1498. After he got home, he gave his sister, Cynthia, the cell phone, and she left for Middleburg. He said he was not sure if he made the cell phone calls that night or if his sister made the calls. But he did call Linda's house asking about the tax papers and he ran an errand, then he watched the second half of a program by Danielle Steele. His sister was waiting for him to come back from the errand, so he could not have gone much farther than Linda's workplace and Winn-Dixie and back. XIII 1500-1501.

Before he left, Waugh told Donald that Linda Jones was lying about her involvement in her husband's death, that she was "kneedeep in the middle of this thing and she sucked other people kneedeep in" the situation. Waugh told Bradley he had several theories about what happened: Either people went in there to teach Jack a lesson and things got out of hand or somebody went in there to teach him a lesson and Linda finished him off. He did not know which was true but he knew Linda was involved. XIII 1523. Before Waugh left, he made it he thought Donald's van was involved and that Donald, too, was involved in some fashion. After he told Donald he would be looking for blood and other evidence in the van, Donald said the van had been detailed four or five times since November 7, 1995. XIII 1532-1533.

The state introduced the following summaries of phone records into evidence: All phone calls from Linda Jones' cell phone to Donald Bradley's cell phone or home phone starting October 31,

1995, until July 10, 1996; all calls from Linda Jones' cell phone on October 31st, 1995; all calls from Donald's cell phone, 858-0347, on October 31, 1995; all calls from Linda Jones' cell phone on November 7, 1995; all calls from Donald's cell phone on November 7, 1995; all calls from Donald's cell phone to Linda's Jones' home or cell phone or Gupton & Gupton, where she was employed. XIII 1504-1505, 1548-1550.

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