IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD LEE BRADLEY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 93,373

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE
FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
CAPITAL APPEALS
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300 Ext. 4580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

of First Degree Murder. Concerning the claimed affirmative-defense-of-consent to the burglary underlying the felony murder, the "consent" of a co-occupant of a victim's dwelling for intruders to enter to kill the victim is void ab initio. In any event, Jack's attempt to repel the intruders and Jack's explicit order to "get out" revoked whatever "consent" may have existed. Further, Appellant has failed to meet his appellate burden of showing guilt-phase evidence establishing, as an affirmative defense, that the brutal manner of his beating Jack Jones was consented-to by Linda.

Accordingly, other issues attacking conspiracy (**ISSUE II**) and burglary (**ISSUES III and VII**) are meritless.

Moreover, evidence of vandalism directed by Linda Jones and executed by Appellant upon the property of Jack's girlfriend about one-week prior to the murder was relevant and probative. (**ISSUE IV**) Underlying the vandalism and the murder was Linda's consuming outrage over Jack's affair with the girlfriend and the implications of that affair for Linda's financial situation. To the degree that this evidence was prejudicial to Appellant it was also relevantly probative. It was not error to admit this evidence, and if somehow it was error, it was non-prejudicial and harmless.

ISSUE V concerns evidence introduced elsewhere in the trial on the same matter, and, given other evidence in the case, was quite peripheral to the trial. Its admission was clearly non-prejudicial and harmless. Further, on the merits, the evidence was not introduced for the truth of its content but rather

because of the fact that someone made a statement. As such, the evidence was not hearsay.

ISSUES VI, VII, and VIII concern the death penalty, which the State submits was properly imposed for this highly premeditated, prolonged, and brutal beating death of Jack Jones.

Therefore, the State respectfully submits that the trial court committed no reversible error in this case. Moreover, several of the claims, made on appeal through Appellant's hindsight, were not presented to the trial court, indeed, were waived, thereby procedurally barring them here.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WAS THE EVIDENCE LEGALLY AND REVERSIBLY INSUFFICIENT FOR (A) PREMEDITATION WHERE THERE WAS CONFLICTING EVIDENCE REGARDING APPELLANT'S INITIAL INTENT **AND** (B) FELONY MURDER WHERE, PRIOR TO THE ENTRY INTO THE HOME, A CO-CONSPIRATOR HOME-OCCUPANT SPOUSE "CONSENTED" TO THE ENTRY FOR THE PURPOSE OF KILLING THE HOME-OCCUPANT VICTIM, AND, AFTER THE ENTRY, THE HOMICIDE VICTIM EXPRESSLY REVOKED ANY PURPORTED "CONSENT"? (Restated)

ISSUE I¹ attacks the sufficiency of evidence for the First Degree Murder of Jack Jones, the husband of Linda Jones. The State's theory, as supported by the evidence, was and is that Linda Jones conspired with Appellant to kill Jack due to his infidelity and due to a multi-hundred-thousand-dollar insurance policy on his life.

¹ Discussions infra of several other issues use the discussion of ISSUE I as a foundation. Therefore, ISSUE I will consume a disproportionate number of the pages of this brief.

ISSUE I claims that the evidence was insufficient to support "either" (IB 43) the premeditation theory or the felony murder theory of First Degree Murder. Appellant's trial-level defense strategy emphasized the viability of the felony-murder charge,² thereby waiving that aspect of ISSUE I. Similarly, in conjunction with a pre-trial argument regarding the admissibility of other-crime evidence, defense counsel essentially conceded the sufficiency of evidence for premeditation if the jury believed the State's eyewitnesses to the homicide, thereby waiving an appellate attack on sufficiency of evidence of premeditation. Consistent with the defense strategy, ISSUE I was also unpreserved by the defense's perfunctory, boilerplate motions for judgment of acquittal. On the merits, defense counsel's concessions were correct.

On the merits, the State will argue that it adduced evidence that Appellant conspired with Linda Jones to kill her husband, Jack Jones, and that, in fact, Appellant killed Jack pursuant to that conspiracy, thus, establishing premeditation. The existence of evidence that may have conflicted with evidence of premeditation did not entitle Appellant to a judgment of acquittal on First Degree Murder. Moreover, even a narrowed focus to only the events within the immediate situation of the killing was sufficient to establish premeditation.

² As discussed below, this strategy stressed a motive for the State's two eyewitnesses (the McWhites) to lie: They were lying because they faced execution through a felony murder theory based upon the burglary.

Concerning felony murder, the State's alternative theory for proving First Degree Murder, ISSUE I claims that Appellant's accomplice (Linda Jones), a co-occupant of the home, consented to Appellant's entry into the home, thereby rendering evidence of the felony underlying felony murder (Burglary) insufficient. Dispositive is the homicide victim's (Jack Jones') explicit revocation of whatever "consent" the killer (Appellant) had from Linda Jones to enter. Jack Jones, the co-occupant homicide victim, attempted to repulse the ski-masked intruders by charging at one of them he spotted immediately after they entered the house, swinging at the intruder, and explicitly telling him to "get out." In any event, consent is an affirmative defense to burglary, and Appellant has failed to meet his burden of showing trial-evidence indicating that any "consent" from Linda Jones encompassed the brutal manner in which Appellant effected the killing. Moreover, the State respectfully submits that the "consent" of an accomplice for the sole purpose of murdering – or even simply assaulting – a co-occupant is not one that the law, as a matter of public policy and legislative intent, should legitimize by recognizing it as such. Appellant's argument erroneously renders a co-occupant's consensual complicity in a murder a per se defense to a burglary otherwise underlying felony murder. The State elaborates.

A. ISSUE I was waived.

Appellant, **through defense counsel's strategies, explicitly conceded the burglary underlying felony murder and essentially**

conceded evidence sufficient for premeditation, thereby waiving
ISSUE I.

Concerning the trial strategy resulting in the waiver of the
appellate felony-murder claim, the primary focus of the defense
below was upon arguing that Appellant was not at the murder
scene. In other words, the primary focus of the defense was on
the identification of the intruder-killer. Thus defense counsel's
opening statement argued:

That man, Donald Bradley, wasn't there. That's the
issue in this case: was he there; wasn't he there. The
evidence is going to convince you that he wasn't there.

*** Donald Bradley was not there

(XI 1049, 1055)

Accordingly, defense counsel conceded that someone committed a
murder: "This murder happened on November 7 of 1995" (XI 1052).
Then, in closing argument, defense counsel continued the theme of
contesting identity of the killer:

So what I'd like to have you look at is the reasons
to doubt that Donald Bradley was there.

*** We suggest to you that all of that does add up
to reasonable doubt and that you should find Mr.
Bradley not guilty on these charges because he wasn't
there.

***[defense counsel argued a "fall-back" position that,
if Appellant was at the Jones' home, then Linda Jones,
not Appellant, killed Jack]

But I would ask that you find that Donald Bradley
was not there because there are too many doubts in this
evidence ***

(XV 1784, 1811, 1817) Consistent with this theme that someone
else, not Bradley pursuant to a conspiracy with Linda Jones,
killed Jack, defense counsel repeatedly conceded that a Burglary
occurred while he attacked the credibility of the testimony of

the McWhite brothers, who essentially testified that they were at the crime scene as home-intruders with Appellant:

Defense's Cross-examination of Brian McWhite

Q And also -- you went inside the house?
A Yes, sir.
Q With the intent to commit a crime?
A Yes, sir.
Q So you're guilty, then, of **burglarizing** that house, are you not?
A I guess so, yes, sir.
Q And you're charged with **burglary** in your indictment, aren't you?
A Yes, sir, I remember that.
Q And during or after **this burglary** Jack Jones died, didn't he?
A Yes, sir.
Q And you understand that **that's felony murder**, don't you?
A Yes, sir.
Q And that's exactly what you're charged with in your indictment, isn't it?
A Yes, sir.

(XI 1139-40)

Defense's Cross-examination of Patrick McWhite

Q So according to what you say, then, you're guilty of conspiring with Donald Bradley to go beat this man up?
A Yes, sir.
Q You feel you are guilty of that?
A Yes, sir.
Q And you're charged with that, aren't you?
A Yes, sir.
Q And you're also guilty of going inside the house and **burglarizing** the house, aren't you?
A Yes, sir.
Q And you're charged with that in your indictment, aren't you?
A I believe so.
Q And during **this burglary** that you were committing or after the **burglary** was finished, Jack Jones died, didn't he?
A Yes, sir.
Q And you're charged with **first degree murder** in your indictment, aren't you?
A Yes, sir.

Q Isn't it true that you want to cooperate in this case?

A Yes, sir, it is.

Q And you want to do that because you want to get yourself a deal, right?

A No, sir. I want the truth to come out.

(XII 1253-55)

Accordingly, in the jury instruction conference, the prosecutor requested an instruction on principals because "if he's a principal in burglary, then he's guilty of felony murder." (XIV 1720) Defense counsel conceded, although he might argue the point to the jury, that the jury "could decide that" (XIV 1720-21). It appears that the prosecutor then produced a principals jury instruction, to which defense counsel responded, "I guess I can't object to that" (XIV 1721). The parties then debated whether the jury should be instructed on Burglary with Assault or simply Burglary; defense counsel contended that the jury should be instructed on Burglary with a Dangerous Weapon as the felony underlying felony murder (XIV 1721-23),³ and the trial court ultimately instructed the jury on Burglary with a Dangerous Weapon as the underlying felony for felony murder (XV 1851). When the trial court finished instructing the jury, defense counsel indicated that he had no "additional exceptions or objections" to the instructions "as read" (See XV 1875).

Thus, a major focus of Appellant's defense was to discredit the McWhites as eyewitnesses to the brutal beating Appellant inflicted upon Jack. It stressed a purported motive for them to

³ See also XIV 1734-38, 1743: aspects of burglary instructions discussed, after which defense counsel expressed satisfaction.

lie: They were lying because they faced execution through a felony murder theory based upon the burglary. This was the same alleged burglary incident that provided the basis for felony murder.

Because the defense strategy conceded, and attempted to use to its advantage, the existence of a burglary underlying a felony murder, Appellant should not be heard to complain about it now. See Terry v. State, 668 So.2d 954, 962, 963 (Fla. 1996)("[m]ost importantly, a party may not invite error and then be heard to complain of that error on appeal"; "[b]y stipulating to allowing Demon Floyd's testimony to be used as substantive evidence, appellant waived any claim of error"); Bradford v. State, 567 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) ("Whether or not resisting arrest without violence is a lesser included offense of resisting arrest with violence (when conviction for the former requires a valid underlying arrest), the parties treated it as such and waived the issue by requesting jury instructions accordingly"); Behar v. Southeast Banks Trust Co., 374 So.2d 572, 575 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) (order "induced by stipulation of the parties. One who has contributed to alleged error will not be heard to complain on appeal"); U.S. v. Taylor, 54 F.3d 967, 972 (1st Cir. 1995)("raise-or-waive rule prevents sandbagging *** precludes a party from making a tactical decision to refrain from objecting, and subsequently, should the case turn sour, assigning error"); Francois v. Wainwright, 741 F.2d 1275, 1282 (11th Cir. 1984)(citing and summarizing several cases). See also Trenary v. State, 473 So.2d 820 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) (then-Judge Grimes

writing; affirmed the denial of a motion to withdraw a plea on the basis of a defense tactic that was a "reasonable course of action for the benefit of his client").

Moreover, in addition to expressing satisfaction with the jury instruction on felony murder, using burglary with a dangerous weapon as the underlying felony, defense counsel essentially requested it, thereby affirmatively waiving any purported error, regardless of its magnitude, in providing the jury that option. See State v. Lucas, 645 So.2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1994) ("The only exception [to fundamental error] we have recognized is where defense counsel affirmatively agreed to or requested the incomplete instruction"), citing Armstrong v. State, 579 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1991).

Therefore, defense counsel waived any objection to providing the jury with burglary as an option: This waiver reinforced the defense's position that the McWhites were motivated to lie because they were facing felony murder because of the underlying burglary.

An attack on the McWhites was also consistent with its strategy on premeditation, resulting in defense counsel's concession that the State's evidence proved a conspiracy if the jury believed the McWhites. In arguing against the admissibility of other-crimes evidence, defense counsel stated:

Moreover, it's cumulative because the State has two eyewitnesses to the murder, Brian and Patrick McWhite. And if the jury believes them, then they are going to believe that Donald Bradley did it and that he conspired with Ms. Jones that very night because they were present when he talked on the phone to someone they didn't know for sure but they concluded was his

tax lady. And other circumstances will show that that was Linda Jones. So it's evidence that the State doesn't really even need because it is cumulative.

(VIII 436) Thus, when the trial court asked if the page containing the premeditation jury instruction was "all right," defense counsel responded, "Yes, sir" (Compare XIV 1720 with III 506). Hence, under the rationale and authorities cited supra, Appellant should now be bound by the concession he made to the trial court. He waived any claim attacking premeditation.

Accordingly, the appellate attacks on First Degree Murder were not properly presented to the trial court.⁴ The state rested its case (XIII 1553), and the trial court invited "any motions" (XIII 1554). Defense counsel responded:

Your Honor, the Defense would move for a judgment of acquittal on all three counts of the indictment because of insufficiency of the evidence to prove the charges that are alleged in these three counts.

(XIII 1554) Defense counsel continued by arguing for a mistrial and for the inadmissibility of Linda Jones' statements. (XIII 1554-55) The trial court denied the defense motions (XIII 1555-56), and the defense began its case (XIII 1557). The defense eventually rested (X XIV 1702), and the State put on short rebuttal (XIV 1702-1712), after which the defense renewed its motion for judgment of acquittal without "any additional argument" (XIV 1713).

⁴ Having chosen his tactical path and still lost the verdict, defense counsel perfunctorily challenged premeditation and felony murder and other counts in his motion for new trial (See XV 1885, III 534-39). This failed to raise the specific claims asserted now on appeal; especially in light of the tactics-guided paths the defense had already taken, it was too little too late.

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